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Staff Report   
City of Manhattan Beach 

  
 

TO:   Honorable Mayor Cohen and Members of the City Council 
 
FROM:  Geoff Dolan, City Manager 
 
DATE:  August 4, 2009 
 
SUBJECT:  Discussion of Issues Associated with Sand Dune Park and Consider 

Alternatives Including Referring the Concept of Installing Parking Meters 
and Creating a Neighborhood Parking Permit Program to the PPIC for 
Review and Recommendation. 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
It is recommended that the City Council refer the concept of installing parking meters and creating a 
Neighborhood Parking Permit Program to PPIC for review and recommendation.      
 
FISCAL IMPLICATION: 
Completion of the study will be funded through existing Department operating budgets.  There are 
potential increases in general fund revenue as well as additional costs for administration and 
maintenance of various operational programs, regulations, meters, special enforcement or override 
parking programs that may be implemented after the study is completed. These costs will be 
evaluated and included in the report to City Council.     
 
BACKGROUND: 
Over the years, the popularity of Sand Dune Park has steadily increased, and is now regularly used 
by residents, sports teams, athletes, and fitness groups for the unique exercise challenge to walk or 
run up the Sand Dune.  This increased use is particularly noticeable in the summer with longer and 
warmer days and substantially increased attendance.  
 
Along with this increased use come increased neighborhood impacts. Residents in the area have 
voiced concerns about a multitude of problems including; parking, traffic, noise and trash.  
 
To address these neighborhood concerns the City has taken a number of actions over the years, 
including: 
 

• Construct a traffic circle at the south end of Bell Avenue adjacent to the park. 
• Stripe diagonal parking along the west side of Bell Avenue and prohibit parking on the east 

side. 
• Post noise and litter prohibition signs. 
• Post Playground warning signs. 
• Provide supplemental street sweeping. 
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• Increased hours of Parks & Recreation staff presence. 
• Hiring a Park Ranger. 
• Increased Police Patrol.    

 
These measures resulted in some relief to the residents, however, attendance at San Dune Park 
continues to increase as well as the associated concerns of the neighborhood.      
 
DISCUSSION: 
 
In addition to the above changes that were implemented, the City has studied a variety of other 
possibilities from limiting use to residents only, to closing the Dune fully or partially, to fencing 
it or charging for its use as a way to control attendance. All of these more aggressive actions 
were tabled by City Council.  
 
During this year’s budget process a new concept was presented that has the potential to reduce 
the activity as well as generate revenue to offset some of the of the City’s costs for monitoring 
the dune. The idea is to consider metering certain areas such as Bell Avenue and the Public 
Works lot and implement a Permit Parking program in the neighborhood. City Council asked 
that this issue be brought to a regular Council meeting for discussion and possible referral to a 
Commission.  
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
It is recommended that City Council refer this issue to the PPIC for study and a report back to 
City Council. The PPIC should actively seek neighborhood and community input and address all 
of the following issues: 
 

• Where should/could meters be installed, 
• What are the recommended hours of the meters and hours of enforcement, 
•  What type of meters should be installed,  
• What is the recommended hourly charge, 
• What are the estimated costs to implement as well as the projected revenue, 
• Where could/should a neighborhood parking program be implemented, 
• How would it be implemented, i.e. an opt in program, 
• What would the parking hours or restrictions be, 
• How would guests be accommodated, 
• What are the expected impacts to park users and residents.  

 
It is recommended the PPIC not be limited to the above issues but consider any other aspects to a 
metering and permit parking program that should arise.   
 
This study will be coordinated by the City Traffic Engineer and will require input from a variety 
of City departments including; Police, Parks and Recreation, Public Works and Finance.     
 
Attachments: Sand Dune History 
  






